IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

No. 2001-CA-00908

BARRY POPE, INDIVIDUALLY, AND AS A SHAREHOLDER OF WORLDWIDE FOREST PRODUCTS, INC.

APPELLANTS

VS.

BRIAN SORRENTINO, DALE HILL, WORLDWIDE FOREST PRODUCTS, INC., KEMPER PRESSURE TREATED FOREST PRODUCTS, INC., LIFE2K.COM, INC., ALGONQUIN ACQUISITION CORPORATION, GENERATION ACQUISITION CORPORATION, GENERATION ACQUISITION CORPORATION, SYNDICATION NET.COM, INC., CASTLE SECURITIES CORPORATION AND JOHN DOES 1-5

APPELLEES

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MADISON COUNTY

APPELLANT'S PRINCIPAL BRIEF

Clarence McDonald Leland
CLARENCE MCDONALD LELAND, LTD.
200 Town Square, Suite A
P.O. Box 1466
Brandon, Mississippi 39042
(601) 969-0731
MSB#

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

This is a contract case which was dismissed on summary judgment in the trial court and there were attorney fees awarded because of a continuance granted when the plaintiff was proceeding *pro se*.

- I. Was the trial court correct when it ruled that Barry Pope had put forth no genuine issue of material fact as to defendant Castle Securities.
- II. Was the trial court correct when it granted summary judgment as to Brian Sorrentino, Dale Hill, Kemper Pressure Treated Products, Inc.,
 Life2K.Com, Algonquin Acquisition Corporation, Generation Acquisition
 Corporation and Syndication Net.Com based upon the statute of
 limitations having run.
- III. Was the trial court correct when it granted, in part, defendants Brian Sorrentino, Dale Hill, Kemper Pressure Treated Products, Inc., Life2K.Com, Algonquin Acquisition Corporation, Generation Acquisition Corporation and Syndication Net.Com, Inc.'s Motion For Payment of Attorney Fees and Expenses as a result of a continuance granted on September 22, 2004, when the plaintiff was proceeding pro se and defense counsel failed to object or raise the issue of attorney fees.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

(A) Procedural History

Barry Pope filed his complaint in his individual capacity and as a shareholder of WorldWide Forest Products, Inc. (hereinafter referred to as "WFP") in the Circuit Court of Madison County on November 26, 2001. (R. 12) Mr. Pope filed his amended Complaint on January 6, 2003. (R. 64) He named as defendants Brian Sorrentino, Dale Hill, Worldwide Forest Products, Inc., Kemper Pressure Treated Forest Products, Inc., Life2K.Com, Inc. Algonquin Acquisition Corporation, Syndication Net.Com, Inc., Castle Securities Corporation, and John Does, 1-5 (R.12)

Barry Pope alleged, *inter alia*, that he had filed a civil action against WorldWide Forest Products, Inc. and David Wise, in the Circuit Court of Madison County on September 22, 1994. (R.66) This first suit arose out of WFP's failure to pay him \$3.0 million dollars (\$3,000,000) for work done on behalf of WFP asserting various claims such as breach of contract and fraud seeking both compensatory damages and punitive damages. (R.66)

Beginning in March of 1996, the parties negotiated a settlement which resulted in a consent judgment and amended consent judgment which were executed and filed in that action. (R.67) Pope was to receive 30,000 shares of unrestricted common stock with a commitment price of at least \$5.00 per share upon the public offering. (R.93) In the event that the price of the stock did not exceed \$5.00 per share upon the public offering, WRP would issue additional shares of unrestricted common stock to Barry and his attorney to equal a cumulative value of \$200,000.00 (R. 94) Barry Pope was also to receive 150,000

warrants with an exercise price of \$1.00 each with a stipulation that the warrants would be reissued on their expiration date of December 1, 1996, if they had not been exercised. In addition, these warrants could not be diluted by WFP with a reverse split as to either the number of warrants or the \$1.00 value.(R.95) WFP agreed to register these warrants and in the event WFP failed to perform, WFP would bear all expenses and fees incurred in connection with its obligations hereunder. (R.95)

On June 28, 1996, an Amended Consent Order was executed and filed modifying the previous Consent Order in that WFP would issue unrestricted certificates of registered shares of common stock in the same number as before, 30,000 to Barry Pope and setting forth the requirement that all warrants issued would be exercised by the effective date of the warrants with independent funds apart from those funds paid by WFP. (R. 98) WFP failed to perform under the terms of the Consent Judgment and the Amended Consent Judgment which brought about the case at bar.(R. 15)

On January 29, 2002, defendants filed separate answers and defenses with the exception of Castle Securities. (R.2) Castle filed its Answer on January 31, 2002, Various motions were filed seeking dismissal for lack of jurisdiction. (R. 3) An amended complaint was filed on January 6, 2003. (R. 5) On October 19, 2004, a Motion For Summary Judgment was filed by defendants other than Castle Securities. (R. 7) Castle Securities filed its Motion To Dismiss or For Summary Judgment on November 18, 2004. (R. 8) On October 21, 2004, several defendants filed a Motion for Payment of Attorney Fees and Expenses because of the granting of the continuance. Plaintiff filed his response on November 22, 2005, arguing that defendants agreed to the continuance and that the

motion was untimely and procedurally barred. (R. 197) Plaintiff then filed his response to Castle's motion on November 29, 2004. (R. 8)

On January 10, 2005, an Order was entered granting Defendant Castle Securities Corporation's Motion to Dismiss or for Summary Judgment, the court finding that there exists no genuine issue of material fact and that Castle was entitled to judgment as a matter of law. (R. 269) Summary judgment based on the statute of limitation was granted to the remaining defendants, except reserving Barry Pope's right to renew the Amended Consent Judgment against WorldWide Forest Products, Inc. (R. 269-270)

The Order granting dismissal to Castle and summary judgment to the other defendants did not set forth the reason for the Court's granting of the motions and Pope, on January 18, 2005, filed a timely Motion To Request Findings Of Fact And Conclusions Of Law And For Clarification And Other Relief because the Order did not contain sufficient information to all the Plaintiff to respond. (R.272) The Court responded on July 8, 2005, when an Amendment To Judgment Dated January 10, 2005, was filed. (R. 325)

The record reflects that Barry Pope filed his Motion To Reconsider on July 18, 2005, (R.9) although the file stamp shows that it was filed on June 20, 2005, which is obviously impossible. (R. 328) On September 7, 2005, an Order was filed which dismissed Barry Pope's cause with prejudice. (R. 350) On November 8, 2005, an Order Extending Time To File Notice Of Appeal was signed allowing Pope until December 5, 2005, to file his notice of appeal. (R. 355) On December 2, 2005, Plaintiff filed his Notice Of Appeal. (R.351) On December 9, 2005, Pope filed his Motion For Appeal In Forma

Paupis because he could not afford to pay the cost of the record in this matter. (R. 353)

On May 16, 2006, an Order was entered denying Barry Pope the right to appeal in forma pauperis finding that there was no authority that allowed the Court to facilitate an appeal in forma pauperis, but that the issue was so important to the plaintiff that the Mississippi Supreme Court should decide the issue. (R. 361) Pope's attempt to prosecute this appeal in forma pauperis was not successful and on July 21, 2006, Pope filed his Designation of the Record, Certificate of Compliance and deposited \$4,000.00 with the Circuit Court for payment of copying the record. (R. 365) Pope's father provided the money for payment of copying costs.

(B) Facts

Barry Pope was a licensed stock broker dealer who had his own firm called Pope Investments. (Exhibit 1, p. 25) In June of 1991, Barry was solicited by David Wise, who was running WFP, to promote WFP as WFP needed its stock price to rise from \$0.50 to at least \$3.00. (Exhibit 1, pp. 30,61) Pope spoke with the NASD before promoting the stock of WFP to make sure what WFP wanted done was legal. (Exhibit 1 p. 65) Pope was able to get the stock price from 50 cents to \$3.25, which he was hired to do, so that the stock could come off pink sheet listing and be traded on NASDAQ. (Exhibit 1, p. 63) At some time after the stock was listed on NASDAQ it carried a bid price of \$4.50. (Exhibit 1, p. 107) The stock was actually traded on NASDAQ under the symbol of WOODE from March 5, 1992, until the middle of June of 1993, well over one year. (Exhibit 1, p. 103)

In return for his promoting WFP stock, Pope was to receive 200,000 one-dollar warrants (Exhibit 1, p. 86) and 200,000 shares of stock which would be worth \$1 million

at the initial public offering price. (Exhibit 1, p. 87) Barry Pope had faith in the company and he purchased approximately 40,000 shares of non-restricted stock of WFP on his own for \$40,000.00. (Exhibit 1, p. 103-105) Later, he gave the stock back to WFP and was to receive restricted stock, which he never received, (Exhibit 1, p.108) for his non-restricted stock because he wanted the company to have the money, Barry wanted to help the company. (Exhibit 1, p.105)

Pope was successful in promoting the WFP stock and getting to stock well over the \$3.00 price target which had been agreed to. (Exhibit 1, p.107) The stock actually hit \$4.50 bid on June 10, 1992. (Exhibit 1, p. 107) He was then asked, in the fall of 1992, to get the warrants exercised that were floating around. (Exhibit 1, p. 110) Barry's compensation for getting these warrants exercised was to be another 200,000 shares of stock at the secondary offering price of \$5.00 per share, which put his compensation for his service so far at \$2.8 million. (Exhibit 1, p. 111)

WRP needed to raise another \$2 million in debt and it had tried to obtain a FMHA loan and had failed. Barry Pope had the contacts to obtain this loan he agreed to help with the process. For his help in obtaining the FMHA loan he was to be paid \$200,000.00 for getting WFP \$2 million. (Exhibit 1, p. 111) In addition to securing approval for the FMHA loan, Barry raised \$5 million from Bernie Ebbers, bringing a check for that amount to David Wise who refused to cash the check. (Exhibit 1, p. 114, 115)

There were witnesses who heard Mr. Wise make the contracts with Mr. Pope, including Denise Jevne (Exhibit 1, p. 119), Mr. Milton Hall (Exhibit 1, p. 123) and Ed

Generes. (Exhibit 1, p. 124) In early 1993, Barry began to suspect that his contracts were not going to be honored and on March 11, 1993, his suspicions were confirmed as Brian Sorrentino, who had taken over as CEO of WFP from David Wise, and David Wise told Pope that his contracts would not be honored and that they would use their politics to see that he would never make it to court if he got an attorney. (Exhibit 1, p. 129)

Barry hired an attorney and his case was set for trial in May of 1995 in Madison County Circuit Court. (Exhibit 1, p. 130) The trial was recessed in order for the parties to confer and try to reach a settlement, which the parties eventually effectuated. The trial judge promised that the trial would resume if the parties did not settle. (Exhibit 1, p. 130, 131)

The settlement was memorialized in a Consent Order filed into the record on March 4, 1996. (R. 93) On June 28, 1996, an Amended Consent Order was filed which amended the original Consent Order in several ways. (R. 98) The basis of the instant action, in a nutshell, is that the settlement represented by these consent orders was procured by the defendants by fraudulent inducement in inducing the Plaintiff to settle his claims and that the stock and warrants that the Plaintiff owns should be converted to the successor company like everyone else's stock was converted. (Exhibit 1, p. 350)

Brian Sorrentino, who was running WFP, knew that there never would be a WFP public offering because he knew that the plant site was contaminated as early as November 11, 1994, when Brian Sorrentino testified under oath, in a deposition in another case, that the site was "worthless"....." a greasy contaminated spot in mud. That's really what it is." (R. 145, 146) proving that he knew well before he settled with Barry

that there never could be a WFP public offering. (Exhibit 1, p. 349) Sorrentino admitted to Pope in 1999 that he settled the case knowing that there would be no Worldwide stock deal ever. (Exhibit 1, p. 376) Barry did not find out about this deposition until the fall of 2002, after filing the instant suit. (Exhibit 1, p. 348)

The Plaintiff sued other entities and people other than Brian Sorrentino, and Worldwide Forest Products, Inc. (R.12) Barry also sued Dale Hill, Kemper Pressure Treated Forest Products, Inc., ("Kemper"), Life2K.Com.("Life2K"), Algonquin Acquisition Corporation ("Algonquin"), Generation Acquisition Corporation ("Generation"), Syndication Net.Com, Inc. ("Syndication") and Castle Securities Corporation ("Castle").

Barry sued Dale Hill because he guaranteed Barry's contracts with WFP and thereafter the conversion of WFP shares to Kemper (Exhibit 1, p. 306, 307, 341) which Hill and Sorrentino had purchased in 1995, without Pope's knowledge, to be the real stock deal instead of WFP. (Exhibit 1, p. 174) Hill and Sorrentino needed the Plaintiff to testify in two cases going on in federal courts in North Mississippi in after the settlement of the first lawsuit happened in 1996. (Exhibit 1, p. 282, 283)

Sorrentino called and asked the Plaintiff to testify in a bankruptcy cased in Aberdeen shortly after the settlement in 1996, wherein the previous CEO, David Wise, Wise's sister, Marilyn Webb, and Ed Generis were claiming to be owed money by WFP and Hill was trying to put the company in involuntary bankruptcy. (Exhibit 1, p. 282)

Hill called Pope shortly after Barry was called by Sorrentino as set forth above.

Hill wanted Pope to testify in a case filed in federal court in Oxford in order to get rid of

David Wise which would close the Worldwide issue, that his contracts would be honored and that he, Dale Hill, would see to it because he was "the money man." (Exhibit 1, p. 339, 340, 341) and again in April of 1999, Hill promised that Pope's shares would be converted to Kemper shares like everyone else's. (Exhibit 1, p. 341)

The other corporate defendants were corporations which were successors to Worldwide. Worldwide went to a corporation called Kemper, to a company called Life2K to a company called Algonquin to a company called Generation Acquisition Corporation, which used a name change to become Syndication Net.Com in what is called a "roll up." (Exhibit 1, p. 34)

The Plaintiff agreed to settle his first suit in March of 1996, when the first Consent Order was entered. During the period of time from March 1996, up to April of 1999, Barry Pope was continually reassured by Brian Sorrentino and Dale Hill that his settlement was secure and that he would get his stock and his warrants if he helped protect WFP from David Wise and others. Barry spoke to Dale Hill on the phone some 39 times during that period of time and Dale Hill always told him he was guaranteed. (Exhibit 1, p. 173)

Brian Sorrentino as well continued to reassure Barry Pope that his stock was secure. From the time of settlement until April 12, 1999, continued his pattern of deception as to the WFP initial public offering being assured. Sorrentino told Pope that the registration statement for the WFP stock was to be filed as soon as the Oxford case that Pope testified in was over. (Exhibit 1, p. 394) Once the Oxford verdict came out, Pope knew that WFP was a toxic waste dump but Sorrentino continued to reassure him

that the WFP stock deal was going forward saying that he was going to make a deal with the EPA to get the plant open. (Exhibit 1, p. 154) Pope had reason to believe that the EPA could be dealt with because Sorrentino's father was an EPA lobbyist who could get the site open. (Exhibit 1, p.16) Barry had reason to believe that Sorrentino was telling the truth about the WFP stock offering because Sorrentin was continuing to raise money, some \$4 million between the settlement date and April of 1999. (Exhibit 1, p. 391) Pope, being a licensed broker knew that Sorrentino could go to prison for raising money if he knew there would be no stock deal. (Exhibit 1, p. 392) Barry was told there was never going to be a WFP deal, that it was Kemper all the time and that he (Pope) f'd up trusting him (Sorrentino). (Exhibit 1, p. 39)

The Plaintiff sued Castle because Mike Studor, a managing underwriter for the WFP stock deal had assured Pope that the WFP stock deal was a firm commitment underwriting. (Exhibit 1, p. 4,5) A firm commitment underwriting is one in which the underwriter guarantees that the stock will sell at a given price, in this case \$6.00 per share and if the stock doesn't sell all of the shares at that price, then the underwriter will purchase the shares that did not sell. (Exhibit 1, p. 388) Because the deal was represented as a firm commitment offering, Barry wasn't worried about getting his money for his stock as he would be guaranteed \$6.00 per share for his stock at the initial public offering. (Exhibit 1, p. 346, 388) Pope was shown a registration statement at the settlement negotiations which said that the WFP stock deal was a firm commitment offering by Castle. (Exhibit 1, p. 388, 389) Mike Studor of Castle, told Barry that there had been a firm commitment letter issued and that the terms were \$6.00 per share.

(Exhibit 1, p. 4,4)

In addition, Mike Studor told Pope, in April of 1999, that Castle did not do due diligence before it agreed to underwrite the WFP stock deal. If it had done proper due diligence, it would have found that there were toxic waste problems with the company and Castle would not have issued the firm commitment letter on which Pope relied. (R. 267, 268) Barry Pope would not have agreed to settle the first lawsuit had he known the firm commitment letter would be no good. (R. 267, 268)

Brian Sorrentino never intended to take WFP public as he knew and told the plant manager at Kemper, Robert Dugan, that Sorrentino was going public with Kemper.(R. 129) He made these statements to Mr. Dugan in January through March of 1996 (R. 129), before Barry's first lawsuit was settled for WFP stock and warrants, March 4, 1996, (R. 93) and the Amended Consent Order of June 28, 1996. (R. 97) In addition to this, Sorrentino told Mr. Dugan that he would have to get rid of WFP so that the EPA would clean it up. (R.129)

Mr. Dugan also testifies that Brian Sorrentino was well aware of the waste liability and he directed wastes from Kemper to WFP for disposal. (R. 129). This is further evidence of Sorrentino's pattern of deception and deceit that he never intended to fulfill Barry's contracts and induced the settlement by fraud. Perhaps the most telling fact is that Sorrentino allowed WFP to be administratively dissolved even before the Oxford case went to trial. WFP was administratively dissolved two months before the November of 1997 court date. (Exhibit 1, p. 417) Even after the Oxford verdict in February of 1999, Sorrentino continued to assure Barry Pope that there would be a WFP public offering,

which he knew was impossible because the company no longer existed. (Exhibit 4, p. 8,9), (R. 342-344)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court erred as a matter law when it ruled that Castle Securities

Corporation was entitled to judgment as a matter of law because there was no genuine
issue of material fact. This is error in that a jury could determine that Barry Pope was
assured by Castle Securities' managing underwriter, Mike Studor, that a firm
commitment underwriting was in place for WFP stock which would have assured Pope a
minimum sales price for his stock of \$6.00 per share for his stock at the initial public
offering.

The trial court erred as a matter of law when it granted defendants Brian Sorrentino, Dale Hill, Kemper Pressure Treated Product, Inc., Life2K.Com, Algonquin Acquisition Corporation, Generation Acquisition Corporation and Syndication Net.Com, Inc.'s Motion For Summary Judgment based upon the Statute of Limitations except as to the right of the Plaintiff, Barry Pope, to renew the Amended Consent Judgment against WorldWide Forest Products, Inc. because what Barry Pope knew and when he knew it are jury questions and not questions of law for the court to determine.

The trial court erred as a matter of law when it ruled that Brian Sorrentino, Dale
Hill, Kemper Pressure Treated Product, Inc., Life2K.Com, Algonquin Acquisition
Corporation, Generation Acquisition Corporation and Syndication Net.Com, Inc.'s
Motion For Payment of Attorney Fees and Expenses should be granted in part. The trial
court found that these defendants were entitled to attorney fees an expenses as a result of

the latest continuance of the trial date on September 22, 2004, wherein Barry Pope was granted a continuance to obtain counsel without objection of defendants' counsel and without defense counsel asking for attorney fees and expenses at that time and in fact defense counsel said, "Your Honor, I'm not going to argue about a continuance because that's a matter within discretion" (Supp. Volume 1, p. 20)

ARGUMENT

I. There are genuine issues of material fact for trial regarding Barry Pope's claims against Castle Securities Corporation.

A. Standard of Review

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