### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

**BARRY POPE** 

**APPELLANT** 

v.

CAUSE NO. 2005-CA-02338

BRIAN SORRENTINO, ET AL

**APPELLEES** 

BRIEF OF APPELLEES BRIAN SORRENTINO, DALE HILL, KEMPER PRESSURE TREATED FOREST PRODUCTS, INC., LIFE2K.COM, INC., ALGONQUIN ACQUISITION CORP., GENERATION ACQUISITION CORP., AND SYNDICATION NET.COM, INC.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MADISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

SAM S. THOMAS, MBN UNDERWOOD / THOMAS, P.C. Post Office Box 2790 Madison, Mississippi 39130 Telephone: 601.355.3668

Facsimile: 601.427.0041

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEES
BRIAN SORRENTINO, DALE HILL,
KEMPER PRESSURE TREATED FOREST

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

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Pope admitted at his depositions each and every fact material to the summary judgment request of the Sorrentino Appellees. The trial court, therefore, had to accept Pope's deposition testimony as true, leaving the trial court no option other than to grant summary judgment as requested by the Sorrentino Appellees. This Court should also bind Pope to his deposition testimony and bring a long overdue end to this ordeal. Pope cannot complain about the entry of judgment adverse to him that was necessitated by his own testimony and admissions.

#### ARGUMENT

A. The Trial Court Properly Granted Summary Judgment In Favor of the Sorrentino Appellees

Review by this Court of the summary judgment motion of the Sorrentino Appellees (MTSR, Ex. 1 at 1-35), and the reply submitted to the trial court by the Sorrentino Appellees (R.

11

This Order was generated by a motion Pope served on November 4, 2005. (MTSR, Ex. 2). Thus, Pope appears to have met the filing deadline for the Notice of Appeal.

200-243), will conclusively demonstrate that Pope's own deposition testimony left the trial court no option but to grant summary judgment in favor of the Sorrentino Appellees. Pope, in essence, and truly, admitted himself out of court by his own testimony.

The Sorrentino Appellees demonstrated by the summary judgment request that the settlement of the prior suit was accomplished by entry of the consent orders. (MTSR, Ex. 1 at 11-17). The settlement of the prior suit was only between Pope and Worldwide. (Id.) Pope admitted the prior suit and settlement concerned the same alleged "contracts" Pope was suing on in the trial court. (MTSR, Ex. 1 at 19; 7-15-03 deposition of Pope at 26-28). Pope admitted the prior suit was settled for 30,000 shares of Worldwide stock, and 200,000 warrants for Worldwide stock, with a \$1.00 payment obligation on the part of Pope to exercise the warrants. (MTSR, Ex. 1 at 11-17 and 25; 2-12-04 deposition of Pope at 186). Pope also admitted the prior settlement resolved all claims of Pope on the alleged "contracts" of Pope for 600,000 shares of Worldwide stock, and Pope admitted he actually received the 30,000 shares and the 200,000 warrants he settled for pursuant to the consent orders. (MTSR, Ex. 1 at 24 and 25; 2-12-04 deposition of Pope at 182 and 186).

The Sorrentino Appellees also showed, by the summary judgment filing, that Pope admitted he received what he settled for previously as satisfaction of his alleged "contracts" with Worldwide. (MTSR, Ex. 1 at 24-25; 2-12-04 deposition of Pope at 182 and 186). Pope also admitted the prior settlement did not include any agreement or undertaking on the part of Appellee Sorrentino or any other Appellee. (MTSR, Ex. 1 at 26; 3-5-04 deposition of Pope at 229). Pope clearly admitted he received what he settled for previously, and he admitted (1) the settlement was only with Worldwide; (2) nothing in the Consent Order or Amended Consent

Order in any way bound Worldwide to go public; and, (3) absent Worldwide going public, Pope admittedly received exactly what he was entitled to under the settlement pursuant to the Consent Order and Amended Consent Order (MTSR, Ex. 1 at 34 and 35; 3-5-04 deposition of Pope at 359-364).

The Sorrentino Appellees, as part of the summary judgment request, also demonstrated Pope was represented by counsel at the time of the prior settlement, and that Pope admittedly agreed to the settlement. (MTSR, Ex. 1 at 26-27; 3-5-04 deposition of Pope at 229-230). Pope also admitted the Consent Order and Amended Consent Order reflected "all material terms" of the agreement and prior settlement. (MTSR, Ex. 1 at 27; 3-5-04 deposition of Pope at 230). Pope even admitted he actually received in settlement more than his entitlement under the Consent Order and Amended Consent Order. (Id.) While Pope did vaguely suggest there was a "condition" on the prior settlement (that Appellee Sorrentino and Pope's attorney, Charles Dunn, would reinstate his alleged "contracts" or 600,000 shares in Worldwide if Worldwide did not go public), the Sorrentino Appellees further showed Pope admitted no such "condition" was incorporated in the Consent Order or Amended Consent Order, even though Pope was represented by counsel at the time of the settlement negotiations and entry of the Consent Order and Amended Consent Order, and even though Pope testified the consent orders reflected all "material terms" of his prior settlement. (MTSR, Ex. 1 at 27 and 28; 3-5-04 deposition of Pope at 230 and 234). And, as to this so-called "condition," Pope admitted any reinstatement agreement was only an agreement to be honored at a "future time" without any specification of "when or how." (MTSR; Ex. 1 at 19; 7-15-03 deposition of Pope at 27-28).

The Sorrentino Appellees, as part of the summary judgment record, also showed Pope never demanded that any stock or contract reinstatement "condition" be placed in the Consent Order or Amended Consent Order. (MTSR; Ex. 1 at 28; 3-5-04 deposition of Pope at 234). Pope did testify he told his lawyer, Charles Dunn, before entry of the Amended Consent Order, to reinstate his "contracts" or his alleged 600,000 shares in Worldwide, and that he threatened "fraud and inducement of a contract" charges against Appellee Sorrentino prior to entry of the Amended Consent Order. (MTSR, Ex. 1 at 28; 3-5-04 deposition of Pope at 235). These threats, according to Pope, were made because Appellee Sorrentino in June of 1996 "laughed" at Pope and told Pope he was "stupid" to "settle [Pope's prior] case the way [Plaintiff Pope] did . . . ." (MTSR, Ex. 1 at 28; 3-5-04 deposition of Pope at 235). Yet, Pope admitted his alleged 600,000 shares in Worldwide were never reinstated and, with the threats of Pope as noted above being made in June of 1996, this suit was not filed until November 26, 2001, as is shown by the Court file.

Also, as part of the summary judgment motion, the Sorrentino Appellees showed Pope admitted his claims in the trial court were that he is entitled to 600,000 of Worldwide stock, with some type of alleged conversion right into stock of Appellee Syndication. (MTSR, Ex. 1 at 29; 3-5-04 deposition of Pope at 247). Yet, Pope also admitted all of his claims in this regard were based on his alleged "contracts" with Worldwide that were set, firm and consummated by March of 1994. (MTSR, Ex. 1 at 30; 3-5-04 deposition of Pope at 250-251). Pope also admitted those "contracts," supposedly entitling Pope to the 600,000 shares of Worldwide stock, were only with Worldwide. (Id.) Pope further admitted that "nobody" personally guaranteed any of his alleged "contracts" supposedly resulting in Pope's 600,000 share entitlement in Worldwide, and Pope

again admitted that his "agreements" or "contracts" were only with Worldwide. (MTSR, Ex. 1 at 31; 3-5-04 deposition of Pope at 272-273).

In short, Pope admitted he was suing on so-called "contracts" supposedly entitling him to 600,000 shares of Worldwide, all of which "contracts" were, as admitted by Pope, in place and consummated by March of 1994. (MTSR, Ex. 1 at 30-33; 3-5-04 deposition of Pope at 250, 253 and 277-280). However, Pope also admitted David Wise, a representative of Worldwide with whom the supposed "contracts" of Pope were allegedly negotiated and Appellee Sorrentino, the alleged "agent" of the other Sorrentino Appellees, told Pope flat-out in March of 1994 that they were "going to cheat" Pope out of his 600,000 shares; that Pope would "get nothing;" and that they would "see to it that [ Pope would] never get a verdict in court" on the same claims Pope attempted to place at issue below. (MTSR, Ex. 1 at 32; 3-5-04 deposition of Pope at 276).

The Sorrentino Appellees also demonstrated, through the summary judgment record, that Pope admitted he even then, in March of 1994, "began looking for a lawyer." (MTSR, Ex. 1 at 32; 3-5-04 deposition of Pope at 276). Indeed, Pope testified the meeting on March 11, 1994, where Pope says he was told by Wise and Appellee Sorrentino he would get "nothing" out of his alleged contracts with Worldwide, focused on "how the hell" Pope's contracts "were going to be honored." (MTSR, Ex. 1 at 20; 7-15-03 deposition of Pope at 128).

Further, the Sorrentino Appellees showed, to justify entry of summary judgment, that

Pope even admitted he was then (in 1994) threatening a suit and criminal charges for fraud

against Wise and Appellee Sorrentino. (MTSR, Ex. 1 at 21; 7-15-03 deposition of Pope at 129).

This was so because, according to the admissions of Pope, he was told on March 11, 1994 by

Wise and Appellee Sorrentino that he would "get nothing;" none of his contracts with Worldwide

would be "honored;" and he would not "get a verdict" on his alleged contracts with Worldwide. (MTSR, Ex. 1 at 21; 7-15-03 deposition of Pope at 129). And, as noted, Pope testified he started "looking for a lawyer" on that date because he had been told by both Wise and Appellee Sorrentino that they would "defraud me." (MTSR, Ex. 1 at 21; 7-15-03 deposition of Pope at 129).

Pope even admitted he knew by March of 1994 that Appellee Sorrentino had created another company to eliminate Worldwide and to defraud him out of his contracts. (MTSR, Ex. 1 at 23; 2-12-04 deposition of Pope at 126-127). Pope also, clearly and unequivocally, admitted he had been told by Appellee Sorrentino in 1994 that Appellee Sorrentino would "defraud" him out of his Worldwide contracts. (MTSR, Ex. 1 at 23; 2-12-04 deposition of Pope at 127-128).

If Pope was complaining in the trial court about the Consent Order and/or Amended Consent Order, this Court should note the Consent Order was entered on March 4, 1996 and the Amended Consent Order was entered on June 28, 1996. If such is the case, Pope should have sought relief long ago in the other action, but any effort of Pope to do so in November of 2001 was clearly time-barred. See R. N. Turnbow Oil Investments v. McIntosh, 873 So. 2d 960 (Miss. 2004).

In any event, any and all attempted claims of Pope against the Sorrentino Appellees were, quite obviously, governed by Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-49 providing, as relevant here, that all "actions for which no other period of limitation is prescribed shall be commenced within three (3) years next after the cause of such action accrued, and not after." Based on Pope's own testimony, under oath, and with the Sorrentino Appellees accepting Pope's testimony in that regard as true only for the purposes of the summary judgment request and this appeal, Pope was

admittedly told on March 11, 1994, by Appellee Sorrentino, as the alleged "agent" of the Sorrentino Appellees, that he would be cheated out of his alleged 600,000 shares of Worldwide and/or his alleged contracts; that he would "get nothing;" that he would "never get a verdict in court;" and that he would be <u>defrauded</u> out of his contracts and/or his alleged 600,000 shares of Worldwide. Pope even acknowledged he "began looking for a lawyer" on that date. Yet, this suit was not filed, as shown by the Court file, until November 26, 2001. Thus, the trial court, quite properly, entered judgment in favor of all Appellees.

In response to the above, Pope argued below that Appellee "Sorrentino and Mike Studor used a firm commitment underwriting letter to induce Pope to settle his case." (R. 139) Pope argued Appellee "Sorrentino secured this firm commitment letter without telling the underwriter about the EPA liability that existed at Worldwide Forest Products, Inc." (Id.) Pope also argued he "did not know about the letter not being good nor did he know about the pollution problems when he settled." Id.

<u>First</u>, Pope never made a part of the summary judgment record any such alleged "firm commitment letter." <u>Second</u>, Pope testified he knew about, or at the very least had notice of, the facts constituting the EPA liability, or "pollution problems," referred to by Pope as early as 1992 or 1993. (R. 222-231). <u>Third</u>, as noted, if Pope's problem is with the prior settlement, Pope's complaints should have been lodged in the other action long before the filing of this suit, and pursuant to a timely motion in the earlier action. <u>See Turnbow Oil Investments v. McIntosh</u>, 873 So. 2d 960 (Miss. 2004).

Pope also argued below he would not have settled previously had Appellee Sorrentino "disclosed the [EPA] liability" and/or not allegedly shown Pope the "firm commitment letter," which letter (as noted) was not made a part of the record on the summary judgment motion. (R. 139-140). Yet, Pope admitted he knew about the EPA liability as early as 1992 or 1993 and, again, no "firm commitment letter" was made a part of the summary judgment record.

Pope also suggested below that he relied upon unspecified statements of Appellee Sorrentino to not demand that an alleged reinstatement "condition" be a part of the Consent Order and Amended Consent Order that resulted in the prior settlement. (R. 140). Yet, Pope testified he did not rely upon anything said by Appellee Sorrentino when he settled his suit in 1996, as (again according to Pope) he believed from April of 1994 forward that Appellee Sorrentino was a "crook and a liar." (R. 237; 3-5-04 deposition of Pope at 390). Pope also admitted that the settlement did not include any agreement on the part of Appellee Sorrentino. (R. 232; 3-5-04 deposition of Pope at 229). Pope further admitted that the prior settlement did not include any agreement or undertaking on the part of any other Appellee. (Id.)

As noted before, Pope also admitted Appellee Sorrentino never personally guaranteed anything to him. (R. 233; 3-5-04 deposition of Pope at 273). Even though Pope did testify Appellee Sorrentino told him Worldwide would be re-listed on NASDAQ when an Oxford verdict was returned, Pope also admitted that any such promise or statement was <u>only</u> a promise or statement of something that would take place <u>only</u> in the future; he admitted no one promised him <u>when</u> Worldwide would be re-listed on NASDAQ; and he admitted no one could possibly make any such promise (R. 234; 3-5-04 deposition of Pope at 280-281).

Pope also testified, on more than one occasion, that Appellee Sorrentino did not guarantee any contract or agreement upon which his claims in the trial court were based. (R. 236; 3-5-04 deposition of Pope at 300). He also admitted again that Appellee Sorrentino never

personally guaranteed any of his alleged "contracts," being the alleged "contracts" upon which his claims below were based. (Id.) Thus, there never existed any factual basis for Pope's contention, in a wholly inadmissible affidavit, that Appellee "Sorrentino personally guaranteed Pope that he would get his stock value." (R. 133-134). In fact, this suggestion in the affidavit of Pope is so contrary to his deposition testimony, without any explanation for the discrepancy, that it could not considered for summary judgment purposes. See Foldes v. Hancock Bank, 554 So. 2d 319, 321 (Miss. 1989).

Pope also argued below that he was told in 1994 that politics and influence would be used to keep Pope from getting a verdict only in the prior suit. (R. 141). Yet, this is completely different from Pope's deposition testimony, as described above. On the contrary, Pope's deposition testimony was that he was told in 1994 that he would be cheated out of his alleged "contracts;" that he would get "nothing" out of his alleged "contracts;" and that he would "never get a verdict in court" on his alleged "contracts." Pope, by affidavit, cannot contradict his deposition testimony, without explanation, and there is no explanation in the Affidavit of Barry Pope (R. 132-135) for the discrepancy between his deposition testimony and his contrary statements by affidavit. *Foldes*, 554 So. 2d at 321.

Pope also argued below the "question [was] whether or not Sorrentino and others fraudulently induced Pope to enter into the settlement agreement based on the firm commitment letter shown to him." (R. 141-142). No such "firm commitment" letter, as noted, was made a part of the summary judgment record. Pope testified he was told in 1994 he would be cheated out of, get nothing for and never get a verdict on of his alleged "contracts." Indeed, if the issue was alleged fraudulent inducement of the settlement consummated before June 28, 1996 when

the Amended Consent Order was entered, <u>Pope had three years from then to sue</u>, <u>but this suit was</u> filed in November 2001.

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